RECEIVED

08-14-2019

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case Nos. 2019AP000467-CR & 2019AP000468-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

BOBBY L. MCNEIL,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Carolina Stark, Presiding and an Order Denying a Motion for Postconviction Relief, the Honorable Frederick C. Rosa, Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

CHRISTOPHER P. AUGUST Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1087502

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Was Mr. McNeil entitled to resentencing as a result of inaccurate information presented at his sentencing hearing?

The postconviction court found the asserted inaccurate information was harmless. (R1 61:3; R2 78:3); (App. 110).¹

2. Was Mr. McNeil entitled to sentence modification result as a of inaccurate information presented at his sentencing hearing?

The postconviction court found that modification was unwarranted as the asserted inaccurate information was harmless. (R1 61:3; R2 78:3); (App. 110).

- 3. Did the circuit court erroneously exercise its discretion in granting the State's request for joinder, determining that there was no risk of undue prejudice to Mr. McNeil?
- 4. Did the circuit court erroneously exercise its discretion in admitting other-acts evidence

 $^{^1}$ This is a consolidated case involving two appellate case numbers. Confusingly, $16\mathrm{AP467}$ corresponds to the chronologically later case— $16\mathrm{CF5467}$ —while $16\mathrm{AP468}$ corresponds to $16\mathrm{CF1685}$. Counsel will use R1 to refer to the record in $16\mathrm{AP467}$ and R2 to refer to the record in $16\mathrm{AP468}$.

regarding Mr. McNeil's prior instances of drugdealing?

5. Was Mr. McNeil entitled to a hearing on his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel?

The postconviction court denied Mr. McNeil's request for an evidentiary hearing, concluding that Mr. McNeil's motion failed to "demonstrate that there was a reasonable probability of a different result." (R1 61:5; R2 78:5); (App. 112).

6. Was the evidence sufficient to convict Mr. McNeil of drug possession in 16CF5467?

Mr. McNeil is raising this issue for the first time in this brief.²

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Mr. McNeil takes no position on publication.

While Mr. McNeil does not request oral argument, he welcomes the opportunity to discuss the case should the Court believe that oral argument would be of assistance to its resolution of the matter.

² Wis. Stat. § 809.30(2)(h). ("The person shall file a motion for postconviction or postdisposition relief before a notice of appeal is filed unless the grounds for seeking relief are sufficiency of the evidence or issues previously raised.")

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In a criminal complaint filed on April 19, 2016, the State charged Mr. McNeil with two charges in Milwaukee County Case No. 16CF1685:

- Count One: Possession of cocaine as a second and subsequent offense and as a habitual offender contrary to Wis. Stats. §§ 961.41(3g)(c) and 939.62(1)(b);
- Count Two: Possession of narcotic drugs as a habitual criminal contrary to Wis. Stats. §§ 961.41(3g)(am) and 939.62(1)(b).

(R2 1:1-2).

The State ultimately filed an amended information adding two additional charges:

- Count Three: Possession of THC as a second and subsequent offense contrary to Wis. Stat. § 961.41(3g)(e);
- Count Four: Obstructing an officer contrary to Wis. Stat. § 961.41(1).

(R2 20:2).

While out on bail for that case, Mr. McNeil was arrested on new charges in 16CF5467 and was charged in a criminal complaint dated December 8, 2016 as follows:

- Count One: Possession of cocaine contrary to Wis. Stat. § 961.41(3g)(c);
- Count Two: Obstructing an officer contrary to Wis. Stat. § 946.41(1);
- Count Three: Felony bail jumping contrary to Wis. Stat. § 946.49(1)(b);
- Count Four: Possession of narcotic drugs contrary to Wis. Stat. § 946.41(3g)(am).

(R1 1:1-2).

The State ultimately filed an amended information modifying count four to a second and subsequent offense under Wis. Stat. § 961.41(3g)(am). (R1 9:2). The State also alleged a new charge, possession of THC as a second and subsequent offense contrary to Wis. Stat. § 961.41(3)(e). (R1 9:2).

Following a trial, the jury acquitted Mr. McNeil on all charges in 16CF1685 except Count Four, obstructing an officer. (R2 49:1). Mr. McNeil was convicted on all counts in 16CF5467. (R1 26:1-5).

Mr. McNeil was then sentenced by the Honorable Carolina Stark as follows:

• On Count Four of 16CF1685, nine months in the House of Correction, consecutive to any other sentence (R2 55:1); (App. 101);

- On Count One of 16CF5467, twelve months in the House of Correction, concurrent with all other counts in 16CF5467 but consecutive to 16CF1685 (R1 34:1); (App. 106);
- On Count Two of 16CF5467, nine months in the House of Correction, concurrent with all other counts in 16CF5467 but consecutive to 16CF1685 (R1 34:1); (App. 106);
- On Count Three of 16CF5467, two years and three months of initial confinement followed by two years of extended supervision, concurrent with all other counts in 16CF5467 but consecutive to 16CF1685 (R1 33:1); (App. 103);
- On Count Four of 16CF5467, twelve months in the House of Correction, concurrent with all other counts in 16CF5467 but consecutive to 16CF1685 (R1 34:1); (App. 106);
- On Count Five of 16CF5467, six months in the House of Correction, concurrent with all other counts in 16CF5467 but consecutive to 16CF1685 (R1 34:1); (App. 106.

Mr. McNeil filed a timely notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief in both cases. (R1 32; R2 53). He ultimately filed a postconviction motion seeking resentencing, sentence modification, and a new trial. (R1 50; R2 71). The motion was denied in a written order, without a hearing. (R1 61:6; R2 78:6); (App. 113).

This appeal follows. (R1 63; R2 79).

STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS³

Background

According to the criminal complaint in 16CF1685, law enforcement observed a van which they "knew to be reported stolen." (R2 1:2). Mr. McNeil entered, and then exited, the van. (R2 1:2). When officers tried to make contact with him, he fled into a nearby residence. (R2 1:2). Police followed him inside. (R2 1:2). When he refused to comply with their commands, he was eventually incapacitated with a Taser and taken into custody. (R2 1:2). Police searched the residence and discovered suspected drugs. (R2 1:2).

According to the criminal complaint in 16CF5467, police received "a call related to an entry into a vacant property [...]." (R1 1:2). Upon arrival, police witnessed Mr. McNeil exiting the gate of the property. (R1 1:2). Mr. McNeil then fled from the scene. (R1 1:2). After a short foot pursuit, he was

³ The record in this case is lengthy; counsel has therefore attempted to be judicious in his statement of facts. He reserves the right to supplement the facts in his reply.

apprehended by police. (R1 1:2). Police observed drugs lying on the street near where McNeil had been apprehended. (R1 1:2). This incident occurred while Mr. McNeil was out on bail for 16CF1685. (R1 1:2).

Pretrial Proceedings

Joinder of Cases

On December 14, 2016 (and again on February 1, 2017), the State filed motions to join both cases for trial. (R1 3; 7; R2 16; 19). In response, defense counsel filed a "Motion Objecting to Joinder" asserting that the allegations were insufficiently similar and that joinder would cause substantial prejudice. (R1 8; R2 21). Following a hearing, the circuit court granted joinder, concluding that there was substantial overlap between the two cases. (R1 69:7-9; R2 90:7-9); (App. 114-116). The circuit court relied on a finding that evidence relating to these separate allegations would be properly admissible as other acts if there were separate trials. (R1 69:8-9; R2 90:8-9); (App. 115-116).

Other-Acts

Defense counsel filed motions in limine, including a motion objecting to "other misconduct evidence." (R2 26:1). Prior to trial, counsel specified that she was objecting to the testimony of Dana Marifke, who loaned Mr. McNeil a van which was later reported stolen in 16CF1685. (R1 71:57; R2 92:57). The State indicated that they would be calling

Ms. Marifke to testify that Mr. McNeil was her drug dealer and that she had loaned him the van in exchange for heroin. (R1 71:58; R2 92:58).

The circuit court denied the defense motion, asserting that Ms. Marifke's testimony was relevant in two respects. (R1 71:62; R2 92:62); (App. 120). First, it helped establish that officers were acting with lawful authority when they contacted Mr. McNeil. (R1 71:61; R2 92:61); (App. 119). Second, testimony that he dealt drugs to Ms. Marifke was relevant to the drug charges. (R1 71:62; R2 92:62); (App. 120).

Trial Testimony

April 14, 2016 Police Contact

Officer Joshua Albert testified that he was "dispatched to investigate a stolen vehicle" on April 14, 2016. (R1 74:5; R2 95:5). Upon arrival, Officer Albert observed the suspect vehicle—a Ford Windstar van—parked in front of a residence. (R1 74:5; R2 95:5). Officer Albert exited his squad car and approached the van. (R1 74:6; R2 95:6). He witnessed Mr. McNeil standing nearby. (R1 74:6; R2 95:6).

Officer Albert initially testified that Mr. McNeil began walking back towards the residence. (R1 74:6; R2 95:6). However, later in his testimony he stated that he had yelled out to Mr. McNeil from his squad car and, in response, Mr. McNeil "ran into the residence." (R1 74:8; R2 95:8). Officer Albert followed Mr. McNeil inside. (R1 74:9; R2 95:9). While inside

the residence, Mr. McNeil repeatedly refused to follow police commands and hid himself in two different rooms. (R1 74:10-17). He was ultimately subdued with a Taser and taken into custody. (R1 74:17; R2 95:17). After Mr. McNeil was in custody, Officer Albert began searching the house. (R1 74:19; R2 95:19). He found suspected narcotics in both the bathroom and the bedroom. (R1 74:20-21; R2 95:20-21).

December 6, 2016 Police Contact

Officer Kristen Ruegg testified regarding the December 6, 2016 incident. (R1 73:58; R2 94:58). She stated that she had been dispatched to a residence on West Greenfield Avenue regarding "an entry into a vacant house." (R1 73:58; R2 94:58). As she pulled into the alley, Officer Ruegg witnessed Mr. McNeil "exiting the rear gate of the vacant house." (R1 73:58; R2 94:58). She exited her squad car and asked him to stop. (R1 73:59; R2 94:59). In response, Mr. McNeil "turned to the east and ran away." (R1 73:60; R2 94:60). Officer Ruegg chased after Mr. McNeil, yelling "stop" as she did so. (R1 73:60; R2 94:60). Eventually, a bystander intervened and pushed Mr. McNeil to the ground. (R1 73:61; R2 94:61).

Officer Ruegg caught up to Mr. McNeil and attempted to handcuff him. (R1 73:61; R2 94:61). Although he initially resisted, Officer Ruegg was ultimately able to handcuff Mr. McNeil and place him in custody. (R1 73:61; R2 94:61). She observed a baggie of suspected marijuana on the ground near

Mr. McNeil's person. (R1 73:62; R2 94:62). Officer Ruegg testified that, after taking Mr. McNeil "downtown," he "made threats to the man that helped [her] and his family." (R1 73:64; R2 94:64). When asked to elaborate, Officer Ruegg told the jury that Mr. McNeil threatened to "kill him and his kids if his kids could talk." (R1 73:64; R2 94:64).

On cross-examination, Officer Ruegg admitted that—contrary to her agency's standard operating procedures—she had failed to identify or interview the citizen who helped her arrest Mr. McNeil. (R1 73:66-68; R2 94:66-68). She acknowledged that the marijuana baggie found was in both the vicinity of the bystander citizen as well as Mr. McNeil. (R1 73:68; R2 94:68). Officer Ruegg testified that she never witnessed Mr. McNeil holding, touching, or throwing the drugs. (R1 73:69; R2 94:69). She admitted it was "possible" that the drugs had been "dropped by the citizen [...] who helped assist in this arrest." (R1 73:69; R2 94:69).

Expert Testimony

The State called Cullen Eberhardy, an analyst with the Wisconsin State Crime Lab. (R1 74:59; R2 95:59). He testified about his analysis of three substances on agency number 16-341-0068. (R1 74:61; R2 95:61). Item A1, weighing approximately .0280 grams, "identified the presence of heroin and cocaine and also indicated the presence of fentanyl." (R1 74:64; R2 95:64). Mr. Eberhardy was asked to explain the "indicated" finding and stated:

In this particular instance, fentanyl was in a much smaller amount; so it showed up in all the instrumental tests, it just compared with a standard on all of those instruments. But the mass spectrum was-the signal on the mass spectrum was a little weaker than what would be preferred for identification.

(R1 74:64; R2 95:64). The exhibit contains the following disclaimer:

Use of the term 'indicated' in this report means the examinations performed did not meet the reporting criteria for identification of that substance.

(R1 20:3; R2 43:3).

Item A2, weighing 1.3964 grams, was identified as THC or marijuana. (R1 74:65; R2 95:65). Item A3, weighing .92 grams, was identified as heroin. (R1 74:66; R2 95:66).

Evidence of Prior Drug-Dealing

The State called Dana Marifke as a witness, who identified Mr. McNeil as someone she "used to get drugs from." (R1 74:70; R2 95:70). She told the jury that she had traded the van—the one that had later been reported stolen—to Mr. McNeil in exchange for crack cocaine and heroin. (R1 74:71; R2 95:71). The State used her to introduce text messages showing she had tried, and failed, to have Mr. McNeil return the van. (R1 74:73; R2 95:73). One of the

messages referenced drug-dealing. (R1 74:73; R2 95:73).

Verdict

At the conclusion of the trial, Mr. McNeil was acquitted of all drug charges in 16CF1685. (R2 49). He was found guilty, however, of obstructing an officer. (R2 49:4). Mr. McNeil was found guilty of all counts in 16CF5467. (R1 26).

Sentencing

On May 3, 2017, Mr. McNeil appeared again before the Honorable Carolina Stark for sentencing. (R1 78; R2 99).

State's Recommendation

With respect to Count Four of 16 CF 1685, the State emphasized the seriousness of the conduct, asserting that Mr. McNeil's actions had repeatedly placed Officer Albert in harm's way. (R1 78:7; R2 99:7). The State asked for a six-month consecutive jail sentence. (R1 78:7; R2 99:7).

With respect to Count One of 16 CF 5467, the State argued that the low weight of the cocaine "really mitigates the seriousness of that count." (R1 78:9; R2 99:9). However, the State also pointed out that "not only was heroin present in that mix, there was fentanyl attached to that mix." (R1 78:9; R2 99:9). This fact cut against any mitigating influence from the low weight:

And just -- law enforcement is so concerned with fentanyl they are no longer, if they have reason to believe that there's fentanyl in the mix, they are no longer doing a field test because they're so worried about the powder just coming into the air and exposing them to -- and they've had this case. An officer overdosed simply by opening the bag and the powder went into his nose.

So even at a dose of .028 grams, any amount of fentanyl is a serious risk. I think if you mix those three drugs, that's enough to kill somebody. I really do firmly believe that when you don't know the weight and mixture of fentanyl involved, the seriousness there can't be underestimated.

(R1 78:9; R2 99:9). Accordingly, the State recommended one year of initial confinement followed by one year of extended supervision. (R1 78:10; R2 99:10). Counsel was "not opposed to that being a concurrent sentence." (R1 78:10; R2 99:10).

As to Count Two, obstructing an officer, the State argued this was "also severe." (R1 78:10; R2 99:10). There were two aggravating factors: First, this was Mr. McNeil's second obstruction charge in six months. (R1 78:10; R2 99:10). Second, this charge involved the intervention of a citizen. (R1 78:10; R2 99:10). Counsel asked for eight months of consecutive jail. (R1 78:10; R2 99:10).

Regarding Count Three, felony bail jumping, this conviction was aggravated given Mr. McNeil's prior record, which included prior bail jumping convictions. (R1 78:11; R2 99:11). Counsel asked the

court to impose one year of initial confinement followed by one year of extended supervision, concurrent. (R1 78:14; R2 99:14).

As to Count Four, relating to heroin, the State asked the court to consider the "total picture" which suggested that Mr. McNeil was a for-profit drugdealer. (R1 78:14; R2 99:14). The State asked the court to impose one year of initial confinement followed by one year of extended supervision, consecutive. (R1 78:14; R2 99:14).

Finally, regarding Count Five—possession of THC—the State conceded that the offense was "mitigated at one gram." (R1 78:14; R2 99:14). Although the State had considered a probation disposition, it ultimately concluded that either probation or jail would be inappropriate given Mr. McNeil's record and the overall set of allegations. (R1 78:14-15; R2 99:14-15). The State therefore asked for a prison sentence on that count. (R1 78:15; R2 99:15).

Defense Recommendation

Counsel argued that the State's case for the drug charges in 16CF5467 was not particularly convincing and that the "drugs could have come from the quote, 'good samaritan,' [sic] who pushed Mr. McNeil down." (R1 78:16; R2 99:16). Mr. McNeil was therefore maintaining his innocence. (R1 78:16; R2 99:16).

In addition, the weights for the respective drugs were all relatively small. (R1 78:16; R2 99:16).

As to the obstructing charge in 16CF1685, counsel maintained that there was an innocent explanation. (R1 78:18; R2 99:18). Mr. McNeil claimed that he was running inside the residence to retrieve seizure medication during the police contact. (R1 78:19; R2 99:19). As to the second obstructing, counsel asked the court to consider that Mr. McNeil was a "young black male" who had lost two family members to police violence. (R1 78:20; R2 99:20).

Counsel also presented numerous pieces of mitigating evidence to the court, including Mr. McNeil's deep ties to the Milwaukee area, substantial family support and employment history. (R1 78:22-24; R2 99:22-24). Counsel also asked the court to take Mr. McNeil's pretrial confinement into consideration in determining an appropriate sentence. (R1 78:25; R2 99:25).

Sentencing Explication

With respect to 16CF1685, the court stated that it was not giving any weight to the acquitted charges. (R1 78:40; R2 99:40); (App. 128). However, it concluded that the "obstructing was a pretty aggravated obstructing." (R1 78:41; R2 99:41); (App. 129). The court did not credit Mr. McNeil's innocent explanation and faulted him for not accepting responsibility. (R1 78:42; R2 99:42); (App. 130). The court found that the offense was also aggravated as a result of the surrounding allegations regarding the stolen van. (R1 78:42 R2 99:42); (App. 130). Mr.

McNeil's conduct was "particularly dangerous." (R1 78:43; R2 99:43); (App. 131).

With respect to his flight from the police in 16CF5467, the court found that Mr. McNeil's choice to go running through an "urban center right in Milwaukee" was aggravated. (R1 78:48-49; R2 99:48-49); (App. 136-137). The offense was also aggravated because Mr. McNeil was out on bail when the offense occurred and because "it took the intervention of a citizen to catch [him]." (R1 78:49; R2 99:49); (App. 137). The court rejected Mr. McNeil's argument that it was the "Good Samaritan," and not Mr. McNeil, who had dropped the drugs on the ground. (R1 78:50; R2 99:50); (App. 138). The obstructing was also aggravated because of Mr. McNeil's threats to the "Good Samaritan's" family. (R1 78:51; R2 99:51); (App. 139).

As to the THC charge, the court found that offense not "particularly aggravated under all of the circumstances." (R1 78:52; R2 99:52); (App. 140). It was in the "lower intermediary category for the offense severity." (R1 78:52; R2 99:52); (App. 140).

With respect to the heroin charge, the court found that this too was in the "intermediate" range given evidence suggesting that Mr. McNeil was a forprofit drug-dealer, Mr. McNeil's prior drug trafficking conviction, and the fact that he was out on bail when the offense was committed. (R1 78:52-53; R2 99:52-53); (App. 140-141).

With regard to the cocaine charge, the court stated that there was not "a large quantity." (R1 78:53; R2 99:53); (App. 141). However, the court believed the offense was more aggravated because of the fentanyl result:

When we look at the cocaine, there wasn't a large quantity. The lab analyst testified that one of the substances they tested, there was enough to identify with scientific reliability that the substance was cocaine and heroin, .028 grams, but the lab analyst Cullen Eberhardy also testified there was enough in that sample, that substance, to identify the presence of fentanyl. And fentanyl, as Attorney Wozniak has pointed out, is a very dangerous ding, more potent than heroin, and heroin is already a very dangerous drug.

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