Case 2019AP000467 Brief Respondent Filed 11-12-2019 Page 1 of 45

RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 11-12-2019

COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case Nos. 2019AP467-CR & 2019AP468-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

BOBBY L. MCNEIL,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM JUDGMENTS OF CONVICTION, THE HONORABLE CAROLINA STARK, PRESIDING, AND A DECISION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, THE HONORABLE FREDERICK C. ROSA, PRESIDING, ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

SARAH L. BURGUNDY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1071646

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

ARGUMENT

I. McNeil is not entitled to resentencing because any error in the court's reliance on the fentanyl was harmless.

In his first two claims, McNeil focuses on comments that the prosecutor and the sentencing court made noting crime lab results indicating the presence of fentanyl in the cocaine McNeil possessed in the second case. In its sentencing remarks, the court viewed the presence of fentanyl as an aggravating factor in its assessment of the gravity of the cocaine possession count.

Though McNeil satisfied his burden of showing that the court relied on inaccurate information, the error was harmless. Thus, he is not entitled to resentencing or, as discussed in Part II, sentence modification.

A. Sentences imposed with reliance on inaccurate information are subject to harmless error analysis.

Whether a court has denied a defendant his due process right to be sentenced based on accurate information is a constitutional question that this Court reviews de novo. *State v. Tiepelman*, 2006 WI 66, ¶ 9, 291 Wis. 2d 179, 717 N.W.2d 1.

A defendant who requests resentencing based on the sentencing court's use of inaccurate information must demonstrate that (1) the information was inaccurate, and (2) the sentencing court actually relied on the information. *Id.* ¶ 26 (citing *State v. Lechner*, 217 Wis. 2d 392, 419, 576 N.W.2d 912 (1998)). "Whether the court 'actually relied' on the incorrect information at sentencing was based upon whether the court gave 'explicit attention' or 'specific consideration' to it, so that the misinformation 'formed part of the basis for the sentence." *Id.* ¶ 14 (quoting *Welch v. Lane*, 738 F.2d 863, 866 (7th Cir. 1984)).

Case 2019AP000467 Brief Respondent Filed 11-12-2019 Page 13 of 45

If a defendant shows actual reliance on inaccurate information, the burden shifts to the State to prove harmless error. Id. ¶¶ 2, 26. "The State can meet its burden to prove harmless error by demonstrating that the sentencing court would have imposed the same sentence absent the error." $State\ v.\ Travis$, 2013 WI 38, ¶ 73, 347 Wis. 2d 142, 832 N.W.2d 491. Accordingly, it is appropriate for the State to rely "on the transcript of the sentencing proceeding in making its argument" and refrain from "speculation about what a circuit court would do in the future upon resentencing." Id.

B. Any error was harmless to the extent that the court relied on the alleged "presence of fentanyl" in the cocaine.

As it did below (R. 75:4), the State concedes that the information regarding the fentanyl was inaccurate and that the circuit court relied on it at sentencing. Specifically, the sentencing court referred back to trial testimony from a lab analyst, Cullen Eberhardy, stating that Eberhardy testified that "there was enough in that sample, that substance, to identify the presence of fentanyl" in the cocaine McNeil possessed. (R. 99:53.)

That statement inaccurately reflects Eberhardy's testimony. Eberhardy testified that the sample "indicated" the presence of fentanyl, which, as he clarified, did not meet the level required for identification. (R. 95:64). Counsel for the State in the postconviction proceedings also later confirmed with Eberhardy "that stating there was enough in the sample to identify the presence of fentanyl is in fact inaccurate." (R. 75:4.)

And the sentencing court relied on the fentanyl information in sentencing McNeil on the cocaine count. After noting the presence of fentanyl in the cocaine, the court detailed the many dangers of fentanyl consumption and exposure. (R. 99:53–54.) The court further stated that the

presence of fentanyl in the cocaine was an aggravating factor enhancing the gravity of the cocaine count. (R. 99:54–55.) Given the court's explicit reference to fentanyl in listing the factors that made the cocaine count an intermediate-level offense, McNeil has satisfied his burden of demonstrating that the court actually relied on the fentanyl information.³

But the error was harmless. To start, the court's mention of the fentanyl was a minor part of its decision: two pages of its 39-page long sentencing remarks. (R. 99:35–74.) Further, the court only discussed fentanyl when weighing the gravity of the cocaine count. (R. 99:53–54.) It stated that while McNeil possessed a small amount of cocaine, the presence of fentanyl in it, "all of the circumstances of December 6, 2016," and McNeil's bail status at the time made the cocaine count "an intermediate level felony offense." (R. 99:54–55.)

Ultimately, on the cocaine count, the court imposed 12 months in the House of Corrections concurrent to the controlling four-year felony bail jumping count. So even though the court relied, in part, on the fentanyl in imposing its sentence on the cocaine count, its reliance was harmless because the only sentence it affected was a concurrent count that McNeil was to serve within a longer controlling sentence.

Recognizing that, McNeil insists that the fentanyl information also influenced the felony bail jumping sentence. (McNeil's Br. 25–26.) He notes the court's references to "all of the circumstances" surrounding McNeil's conduct on December 6, 2016, and its goal to protect the public. (*Id.*) But a fair reading of the sentencing transcript demonstrates that

³ The State disagrees with McNeil's position that the court actually relied on the fentanyl information to craft the felony bail jumping sentence. (McNeil's Br. 25–26.) The court made no specific or explicit references to the fentanyl in imposing the controlling sentence. That said, the State understands those arguments to go to harmless error, and addresses them in that context.

Case 2019AP000467 Brief Respondent Filed 11-12-2019 Page 15 of 45

the court would have imposed the same controlling sentence absent the information regarding fentanyl.

The court's primary concern was McNeil's lengthy pattern of noncompliance with the law and his failure to take responsibility for his crimes. In discussing the seriousness of the felony bail jumping charge, the court found that it was aggravated because McNeil engaged in lawless conduct while on bail for obstruction and other charges, with a significant past criminal record. (R. 99:55.) McNeil's lawless conduct had been a troubling pattern: his long criminal record included convictions for obstruction of an officer (in 2002), bail jumping (in 2004, 2005, and 2006), delivery of cocaine (in 2006), and robbery (in 1997 and 2012). (R. 99:55–56.) While serving probation, supervision, and on bond, McNeil violated the rules and was revoked. (R. 99:55-56.) McNeil's crimes here further showed his contempt for rules, given that he continued to possess drugs in December 2016 despite having been convicted in 2006 of delivery, facing other drug counts based on his April 2016 conduct, and being on bond for those other counts. (R. 99:57.)

It also noted that McNeil, in his conduct underlying both obstruction charges, endangered himself and the community by disobeying law enforcement's lawful orders. (R. 99:59–60.) In April, the court noted, McNeil escalated the encounter into a dangerous situation when he ran into a residence, failed to come out of a bedroom, and forced the officer to make a number of quick decisions and use a taser to subdue McNeil. (R. 99:41–46.) In December, similarly, McNeil ran from police through a busy urban area, which ended only after a bystander intervened. (R. 99:48–50.) The court also found significant McNeil's shunning responsibility for his acts and his incredible claim that during the April encounter, he was simply going into the house for a glass of water and did not realize police were chasing him. (R. 99:40–41.)

Case 2019AP000467 Brief Respondent Filed 11-12-2019 Page 16 of 45

In all, the court made clear that its sentencing goals were to protect the community, to deter McNeil from engaging in future crimes, and to punish him for his crimes here. (R. 99:59–60.) In referencing "all the circumstances" tied to his crimes, the court was most concerned with McNeil's behavior underlying the obstruction and the felony bail jumping convictions and his general refusal to follow rules:

Given the very aggravated nature of the obstructing, the danger it caused on April 14th of 2016, given the very significant danger that you posed to officers in the community and yourself on December 6, 2016, with that aggravated obstructing, your history is simply not following the rules, whether those be our community's laws in general, the rules of release on bail, the rules of probation or extended supervision.

I think that it's very clear that there's a high need to protect the community from you because you have not demonstrated [outside some good behavior while in custody for these cases] that you're going to follow rules. You've demonstrated a pretty clear pattern in history of violating rules or laws in ways that pose a lot of danger to yourself and others in our community. So I think the need to protect the community is very high.

(R. 99:59-60.)

Because of McNeil's history of failing to follow rules, in the court's view, a prison sentence was required. (R. 99:60–62.) "[U]nder all of these circumstances," the court told McNeil, "there is just no way that I can have confidence that you will follow the rules of probation for the community to be safe." (R. 99:62.) As the court further explained:

When I look at the severity of his criminal record, when I look at the multiple convictions now for bail jumping, revocations of probation and extended supervision, the types of crimes he's been convicted for, all of the factors that I've noted as aggravated in all of the different categories today, and looking at the

Case 2019AP000467 Brief Respondent Filed 11-12-2019 Page 17 of 45

amount of time he has already spent in custody when sentenced on other cases, . . . I think it has to be more than four years of initial confinement or custody to really accomplish the sentencing goals because in the past, the things that have been done haven't worked to deter him from committing other crimes to keep our community safe.

(R. 99:62-63.)

Given the court's repeated emphasis of McNeil's continued failure to follow rules, based on his record and his conduct underlying the obstruction and bail jumping charges, the fentanyl information did not influence the controlling prison sentence.

McNeil tries to align his case with Travis, 347 Wis. 2d 142, in which the State failed its burden of proving harmless error based on inaccurate information. (McNeil's Br. 26–27.) There, the court held that the error was not harmless when the circuit court stated at sentencing its erroneous view that Travis was subject to a five-year mandatory minimum when there was none. Travis, 347 Wis. 2d 142, ¶ 79. That was so because the nature of the error permeated the entire hearing in two respects: first the mistaken understanding that a mandatory minimum applied caused the court's "framework for sentencing [to be] thrown off, and the sentencing court cannot properly exercise its discretion based on correct facts and law." *Id.* ¶ 80. Second, the prosecutor, defendant, defense counsel, defendant's mother, the PSI writer, and the court were under the same mistaken understanding, which may "significantly hinder[]" the court's ability to exercise its discretion. Id. ¶ 83.

Travis is distinguishable. To start, here, the mistake regarding fentanyl on one of six counts was a much less significant mistake than misinformation regarding the mandatory minimum that Travis faced. To that end, the fentanyl information did not permeate the entire proceedings. Again, the court discussed it in two of its 39 pages of

Case 2019AP000467 Brief Respondent Filed 11-12-2019 Page 18 of 45

sentencing remarks. (R. 99:53–54.) The prosecutor discussed it just as briefly. (R. 99:9.) It was not discussed at a level that would have thrown off the court's entire compass in crafting its sentence. Again, the transcript makes clear that the court was most driven by McNeil's failure to follow rules and the resulting danger he posed to the community, not the harm from possessing tainted drugs.

In sum, McNeil is not entitled to resentencing.

II. Sentence modification is unwarranted for the same reasons.

McNeil correctly states the law and standard of review with regard to a claim for new-factor sentence modification. (McNeil's Br. 28–29.) In a nutshell, a defendant has the burden to demonstrate the existence of a new factor; if he meets that burden, the court makes a discretionary call whether the new factor justifies sentence modification. *See State v. Harbor*, 2011 WI 28, ¶¶ 33–37, 333 Wis. 2d 53, 797 N.W.2d 828.

Here, the postconviction court assumed for the sake of argument that McNeil established that the clarification regarding the fentanyl was a new factor and determined that sentence modification was not warranted for the same reasons that McNeil was not entitled to resentencing. (R. 78:4.) Based on its harmless-error assessment on the resentencing claim, the postconviction court soundly found that new-factor sentence modification was not warranted. This Court may affirm on that ground.

Moreover, McNeil cannot establish that the fentanyl information was a "new" factor. At trial, as noted, Eberhardy testified that the cocaine sample "indicated" the presence of fentanyl but clarified that that did not meet the level required for identification. (R. 95:64). Accordingly, the accurate information was available to McNeil and his counsel at the sentencing hearing; counsel should have recognized the error

Case 2019AP000467 Brief Respondent Filed 11-12-2019 Page 19 of 45

at sentencing and corrected it then. Further, the court's discussion of fentanyl was not "highly relevant" to the sentence, for the same reasons the court's reliance on it was harmless error under the circumstances. *See Harbor*, 333 Wis. 2d 53, ¶ 40.

McNeil suggests that the postconviction court could not adequately exercise its discretion in declining his request for sentence modification based on its harmlessness assessment. (McNeil's Br. 30–31.) He doesn't explain why that is so, or why the court's express finding "that sentence modification is not warranted even assuming the inaccurate information regarding the presence of fentanyl qualifies as a new factor" (R. 78:4) is "incomplete" reasoning. (McNeil's Br. 30.) Nor can he persuasively so argue. The State is not aware of any circumstances where inaccurate information constituted harmless error, but was not harmless when framed as a new factor. Even if that outcome is possible, the record in this case does not support it.

Accordingly, this Court should affirm.

III. The circuit court soundly exercised its discretion in finding that joinder did not substantially prejudice McNeil.

McNeil next challenges the circuit court's findings that joining the two cases for trial did not substantially prejudice him. As discussed below, McNeil cannot prevail.

A. Courts construe the joinder statute broadly in favor of joinder and review decisions on severance requests for an erroneous exercise of discretion.

Questions of joinder on appeal involve two distinct inquiries: first, whether the initial joinder was appropriate, and second, whether severance of the initial joinder is warranted based on prejudice to the defendant. *State v.*

Case 2019AP000467 Brief Respondent Filed 11-12-2019 Page 20 of 45

Hoffman, 106 Wis. 2d 185, 208, 316 N.W.2d 143 (Ct. App. 1982). Though McNeil does not challenge the initial joinder decision, a summary of the controlling legal standard is helpful.

Wisconsin Stat. § 971.12(4) governs a court's initial joinder of cases: "The court may order 2 or more complaints, informations or indictments to be tried together if the crimes . . . could have been joined in a single complaint, information or indictment. The procedure shall be the same as if the prosecution were under such single complaint, information or indictment."

In turn, Wis. Stat. § 971.12(1) allows the State to charge multiple crimes together "if the crimes charged, whether felonies or misdemeanors, or both, are of the same or similar character or are based on the same act or transaction or on 2 or more acts or transactions connected together or constituting parts of a common scheme or plan."

"The joinder statute is to be construed broadly in favor of initial joinder." Hoffman, 106 Wis. 2d at 208. Courts particularly favor joinder when the charged offenses involve the same defendant. $State\ v.\ Salinas$, 2016 WI 44, ¶ 36, 369 Wis. 2d 9, 879 N.W.2d 609. Reviewing courts interpret initial joinder decisions broadly to foster "the goals and purposes of the joinder statute," including economy, efficiency, convenience, and fiscal responsibility. Id.

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